1980

Utah State Department of Social Services v. Salvador P. Toscano, Sr : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an action before the Utah Supreme Court to review a decision of the Second Judicial District Court of Weber County, State of Utah, which held that Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) payments of \$2,921.00, given to the Appellant by the Respondent, were the result of factual error since the payments would not have been made had the Respondent known that the Appellant in fact owned a home and real property in Texas; and which entered judgment against the Appellant in accordance with Rule 54(c)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Appellant contends that he properly received the AFDC and that the State of Utah does not have the right to collect it back. Appellant was legally entitled to AFDC from the State of Utah under Respondent's own regulations, Volume II Section 410.1, and to deny Appellant that legal entitlement is a violation of Appellant's due process and equal protection rights under the Utah Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

DISPOSITION BY
SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF WEBER COUNTY
STATE OF UTAH

The Defendant was ordered to pay back assistance he received from the State of Utah in the amount of \$2,921.00. Case No. 67678 in the Second Judicial District Court of Weber County.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the decision by the Second Judicial District Court of Weber County and, in addition, an award of retroactive benefits due.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant, Salvador P. Toscano, Sr., is a migrant farm-worker from Muleshoe, Texas. In June of 1975 Appellant brought his wife and eight of his eleven children to work in the onion fields of Davis County, Utah. Subsequently, Appellant suffered a torn medial meniscus of the left knee during his employment and was unable to pursue further work in the onion fields or any other substantially gainful employment. Appellant was later in serious financial difficulty and went to the Assistance Payments Administration Office in Davis County to apply for aid. An interview was held between Appellant and an Assistance Payments Administration non-Spanish speaking representative concerning Appellant's eligibility for AFDC benefits. At this interview it was not asked whether Appellant owned a home. Appellant was given financial assistance which subsequently totaled \$2,921.00.

On June 15, 1977, Appellant was sued by the State of Utah to collect the \$2,921.00. The Complaint stated that Appellant had received the financial assistance by fraudulently misrepresenting to Plaintiff that he did not have a home in which he was not residing.

Appellant filed an Answer with the Second District Court challenging the allegations made by the State of Utah. On September 27, 1979, and October 1, 1979, Appellant appeared with counsel at hearings before the Honorable Judge Calvin Gould. At those proceedings Appellant, through an interpreter stated that he could not understand the English language, much less read or write in English. Throughout the hearings an interpreter translated for the court and counsel, communicating with Appellant and his family in Spanish. Appellant stated that he was a migrant farmworker and that he stayed in the State of Utah for the year of 1975 because of the injury he sustained, but that in 1976 and the years that followed, he migrated back and forth from Texas to Utah, and to other states as well. When questioned by counsel for the State, Appellant stated that he did not understand most of the questions asked by the Assistance Payments representative; he was certain, however, that he was not asked whether he owned a home in Muleshoe, Texas. Appellant stated that he did not misrepresent any issue to the Assistance Payments Administration and that he did not know about the rules and regulations with regard to financial assistance.

On October 1, 1979, Judge Calvin Gould rendered his decision holding that the failure of Appellant to report the

ownership of his home in Texas was not the result of fraud or misrepresentation by Appellant. The court found that Appellant's primary language was Spansih and that his ability to communicate in and understand English was severely limited; that Appellant's failure to report ownership of the home and real property in Texas was the result of lack of communication; that Appellant's home in Texas was not an exempt asset or resource under Assistance Payments regulations; that Appellant's ownership of the same made him totally ineligible for the financial assistance he received;and that Respondent was entitled to judgment against Appellant in accordance with Rule 54(c)(1) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, on the basis of factual error in the payment of monies, by Respondent, to Appellant in the amount of \$2,921.00. This appeal to the Utah Supreme Court followed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT WAS, AT THE TIME IN QUESTION, ELIGIBLE FOR FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE BECAUSE HIS HOME IS EXEMPT UNDER VOLUME II SECTION 410.1 OF THE UTAH RULES.

Section 410.1 of Volume II states:

§ 410.1 Exempt Assets

1. One home and lot owned or being purchased and occupied by the applicant or recipient, including a mobile home.
 - a. If the home is owned or being purchased, the lot on which the home stands shall not exceed the average size of residential lots for the community in which it is located. The amount of property exceeding an average-size lot shall not be considered

- b. When an individual owns but does not occupy a mobile home, the equity value of the mobile home shall not be considered exempt personal property.

It is important to note that for financial assistance a home and lot must be occupied by the applicant before it is exempt. There has never been any question as to Appellant's occupying his home in Muleshoe, Texas. Appellant is a migrant farmworker and uses his home in Texas as a home base when he travels all over the Southwest and Northwest to do agricultural work. He is required to travel great distances from his home base in Texas, however, he does leave his home occupied. Appellant owns only one home and pays taxes on it. Because he and his family return to their home periodically during the year, he does not rent his home and does not collect any income from it. In December, 1975, when Appellant applied for financial assistance and during the months Appellant received the financial assistance, Appellant occupied the home and lot in Muleshoe, Texas, although he was not temporarily there. It is pointed out that Volume II does not define the term occupied, but it is submitted that the general dictionary definition is applicable and Appellant did "occupy" the home.

The case of Independent Fire Insurance Company v. Butler, 362 So. 2d 980 (1978), held that "occupancy" was largely a matter of intent and that a home did not need a continuous bodily presence of individuals in order to be occupied. Furthermore, the case of Independent

Fire Insurance Company defined the term "occupied" to mean a dwelling in actual use by human beings who lived therein as their place of habitation. In the case of National Security Fire and Casualty Company v. Richard Lee James, 358 So. 2d 737 (1978), the court stated that "unoccupied" means without occupants or animate objects; a dwelling is unoccupied when it is ceased to be used as a place of abode or residence by people. The Appellant in the case at bar legally "occupied" his home in Texas under the elements set out in aforementioned cases.

The Appellant is a migrant farmworker and at all times intended his home to be located in Muleshoe, Texas, and although there was not a continuous bodily presence of Appellant in his home, his home was and continues to be occupied by his children and Appellant; and at all times Appellant's home in Muleshoe, Texas, has been used as the Appellant's place of abode and residence.

In the case of Macomber v. State Social Welfare Board, 346 P.2d 808 (1968), the court held that under statutes providing that real property owned but not occupied by a state old age security recipient shall be utilized to provide for the recipient's needs, regulations which required the recipient to sell a lot next to her home were void in that "utilize" did not include a sale; the recipient was entitled to retain real property even though it was not feasible to utilize it for her needs, and her transfer of that property to charity, with retention of life estate, did not render her ineligible to receive payments. In the case at bar, the

court should take a liberal approach in determining whether Appellant in fact "occupied" his home in Muleshoe, Texas, and find as the court did in Macomber.

The Utah law regulating public financial assistance was enacted for the purpose of promoting the general welfare of all individuals. Appellant was working in the fields of Utah doing agricultural work when he was injured.

This injury subsequently forced him to seek financial assistance.

At all times he "occupied" his home in Muleshoe, Texas, and this court should find accordingly. Although the line of demarkation is incapable of precise definition, the courts have given general welfare laws a liberal construction with a view toward accomplishing its highly beneficent objectives. United States v. Sullivan, 332 U.S. 689 (1948). Brazons River Conservation & Reclamation Dist. v. Castello, 135 Tex.307, 143 S.W. 2d 577(1940).

It is important to note that for food stamp assistance purposes the Appellant's home was exempted and he was able to receive public assistance. Basically, public financial assistance and food stamp assistance are the same, both are governed by federal and state regulations together, which may often be integrated and cross-applied. Where general financial assistance regulations do not adequately define the situation at hand, the food stamp assistance regulations may provide guidance that is equally applicable to financial assistance, since the two different forms of assistance and their governing regulations are so much alike.

Food stamp assistance is governed by Volume IV of the state regulations, and the applicable Sections in this case are 304.21 and 680.3 (presently 680.5). They state:

\$304.21 (Exempt Resources) Home and Lot.
The home and lot normal to the community.

\$680.3 Verification of Migrant Resources:

Special care should be taken in dealing with migrants to determine if there are out-of-State resources or income from real property in the home-base area. For example, a Migrant who claims Texas as a home-base area and who is applying for food stamps in Utah, should be questioned as to the availability of resources in Texas as well as Utah.

Particular attention should be paid to real property in the home-base area. Each applicant household is permitted one home and lot as an exemption from resources. If the applicant has a home and lot in Texas and does not own a residence in Utah, the Texas home will be exempted as a resource....

As noted, Volume IV of the food stamp regulations provide specific rules for migrant workers. As transients, migrant farmworkers can readily apply for food stamp assistance, and the policy of the welfare laws and regulations is to expedite their receiving this type of public assistance benefit. Hence, special sections are promulgated in Volume IV which apply only to migrants. The intent of the Volume IV regulations is to allow migrants the right to own a home in another state and consider it an exempt resource. Appellant was legally entitled to receive food stamps under the Utah rules because his home was considered an exempt resource; the same should hold true for the financial assistance that Appellant received.

For both food stamp assistance and financial assistance the home and lot belonging to Appellant was exempt; for financial assistance purposes the home and lot were occupied by the applicant as required under the Utah rules. Since the financial assistance rule does not specifically treat the situation of a migrant, but the goal of both rules is the same, therefore, the example of a migrant who owns a home in Texas and works in Utah (Volume IV §680.3) provides applicable guidance in defining the meaning of "occupied" in this situation, for purposes of financial assistance as well. Although Volume II does not have any special regulation covering migrants, migrant status is relevant in determining financial assistance. Whether an applicant was a migrant is therefore an issue. As a migrant farmworker, Mr. Toscano was eligible for the financial assistance that he received.

POINT II

APPELLANT DID NOT UNDERSTAND THAT HE HAD TO REPORT OWNERSHIP OF HIS HOME IN TEXAS, DID NOT WILLFULLY WITHHOLD THE INFORMATION, AND SHOULD NOT BE HELD LIABLE THEREFOR.

Appellant did not understand the questions concerning his resources because of his limited ability to communicate in the English language. The District II-A office of the Assistance Payments Administration was not staffed with personnel who spoke fluent Spanish, and one of its staff did assist Appellant in filling out his application for assistance. Appellant did not understand the questions he was being asked by Respondent's representative at the time he applied for benefits. The Appellant did not withhold information material to his eligibility; and the Appellant received

financial assistance because of a lack of communications as found by the lower court. The case of Jacobo Garcia v. Califano, No. 77-422(D.N.J. 1977), should therefore apply. That case involved a Spanish-speaking individual who received Social Security Disability benefits and an attempt by the government to recover an overpayment. Whether the recipient of an overpayment of Social Security Disability benefits was at fault and could be required to repay the extra funds depended upon whether he knew or should have known that he was receiving an overpayment. Within a period of several weeks, the recipient had accepted two checks, each for \$3,138, one of which constituted an overpayment. Although the overpayment and the recipient's entitlement in general had been explained in letters sent to him by the Social Security Administration, he was unable to read them because he was literate only in Spanish. The court held that the government could not recover an overpayment of disability benefits from any recipient who was found without fault in regard thereto.

The record in the case at bar shows that Appellant was without fault in regard to overpayment of benefits, and he should not be required to pay back those payments he received from the Assistance Payments Administration.

On a further note, it is against the public interest to congest the courts with trivial, perhaps meaningless, and even counterproductive lawsuits like the one presented by Respondent in this case.

The attempts to collect the \$2,921.00 overpayment from Appellant have continued for almost three years, at considerable

expense to the public. The Court should rule in Appellant's favor if for no other reason than to provide an example for those with authority to decline collection of future overpayments in similar circumstances. At least a future waste of public money could be avoided.

Not only is it highly questionable whether collection efforts recover enough overpayments to pay for the administration and legal costs involved in such activity, it is all the more questionable whether blameless households are a desirable target of collection proceedings. In proceeding against those households, the State is treating those innocent of any wrongdoing exactly the same as the outright welfare chisler. This indiscriminate grouping breeds disrespect for the law and the State agency, which will ultimately hinder enforcement not only of recovery provisions, but of the underlying provisions for proper receipt of financial assistance. A previously innocent recipient could easily be converted into a welfare chisler. When one realizes that by coming forward with information indicating an overpayment he may precipitate his own prosecution and repayment obligation, he could very well feel compelled to remain silent. Then the error might never be corrected, and overpayments might continue indefinitely. Until the blameless are encouraged to come forth with material information, rewarded rather than being punished equally with the blameworthy, public officials cannot assume to build respect for the law or the governmental agency charged with its enforcement.

A further policy reason for exercising power to decline collection carries greater weight than the State's interest in cutting costs - the need to permit recipients to become self-supporting. Collection robs those with only enough income to meet fixed living expenses of their only chance to achieve a standard of living that approximates minimum subsistence. Having relied on financial assistance later claimed as an overpayment, a household has spent that money on medical bills and other necessary living expenses, not incurred because of the receipt of the financial assistance. To then require repayment means that the household will incur further debts for living expenses. Therefore, a primary and overriding consideration relative to the public interest in exercising the power to decline collection is the balance of costs involved in attempting to collect from faultless households and the benefits derived from such attempts. The State will pursue an innocently overpaid household through legal proceedings at great expense in time, effort, other resources, and ultimately money to both parties, the courts, and ultimately the public, when the net result is but an unenforceable judgment against a household with little resources. Even if a repayment agreement can be structured to a household's marginal income, this too involves the expense of monitoring and enforcement. Furthermore, it may stretch the household's budget to a breaking point, jeopardizing its ability to secure the basic necessities of life.

Indeed collection punishes the wrong party, such that

principles of equity compel the declination of collection. It must be remembered that the Appellant who has been overpaid due to innocent error never requested, either expressly or impliedly, financial assistance to which he was not entitled. He did not apply for financial assistance to which he was not entitled nor even assent to, financial assistance to which he was not entitled when he received it, because he did not know he was not entitled to the assistance when he received it. Therefore the Defendant was not put on notice when he received the financial assistance that he would be obligated to repay it.

Nor did the State expect to be repaid when it issued the financial assistance. When the household is without fault, the agency must accept responsibility for an erroneous overpayment. Placing the obligation on recipients for overpayments reduces the agency's motivation to correct or eliminate errors, since the agency knows it can require the recipients to repay. Accountability should be placed where fault lies, so that the problem can be arrested at its source. Stopgap measures will never be totally effective in eliminating mistakes.

To summarize, those who are currently subject to recovery or recoupment are perhaps the most faultless: those who have made an effort to become self-supporting, to have enough income other than public benefits from which the State can recover; and those who have been persuaded by moral compulsion to agree to repay from their current benefits. Then remain those from whom recovery is impossible. If the

agency were encouraged to prevent errors, however, rather than discovering errors after the fact, then the State would not suffer the loss in these situations. Therefore the public interest requires that the Plaintiff decline collection from faultless households such as Appellant.

POINT III

THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL PRECLUDES THE STATE'S COLLECTION ACTION.

The doctrine of equitable estoppel is based upon public policy, fair dealing, good faith, and justice. 28 Am. Jur. 2d Estoppel §28 (1966). Generally, the doctrine holds a person to a representation made or position assumed where otherwise inequitable consequences would result to another, who, having the right to do so, has in good faith relied on the representation or position and been misled to his injury.

Traditionally, the doctrine has been involved in circumstances of fraud, been characterized as very harsh, and consequently not been favored. But recently the technicalities incident to estoppel have given way to practical utility, and the doctrine has been extended to unconscionable or inequitable situations, as a means of preventing injustice.

The elements of equitable estoppel are set forth in Lucide v. Rippato, 73 Cal. App. 3d 1, 140 Cal. Rptr. 535, 542 (1977), quoting from Strong v. County of Santa Cruz, 15 Cal. 3d 720, 725, 543 P.2d 264 (1975). The facts of the present case satisfy those elements.

(1) The party to be estopped must be apprised to the

facts. The State's Assistance Payments Administration was unaware of all relevant facts or could have been through reasonable diligence. The Appellant supplied all information that the State requested of him.

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