1980

Utah State Department of Social Services v. Salvador P. Toscano, Sr : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

position is an improper interpretation and application of the two distinct programs.

Testimony was presented at trial (R. 115-121) which pointed out the distinction of the two programs and that Food Stamp Regulations do not apply to financial cases, though both types of assistance might be received by the same individual at the same time. This testimony is unrefuted in the record and is summarized as follows:

(1) Each type of assistance has its own unique eligibility requirements.

(2) Food Stamp assistance is governed exclusively by regulations promulgated by the United State Department of Agriculture, while cash assistance is governed exclusively by regulations promulgated by the United States Department of Health, Education and Welfare.

3. The State of Utah's financial assistance regulations are promulgated under Volume II and Food Stamp regulations are contained in Volume IV of the Assistance Payments Administration volumes.

The State of Utah, in essence to receive federal funds to aid in programs designed to help the disadvantaged administer the programs from separate federal agencies. Food stamps used to be distributed through the Post Office of the United States. No one would contend that the state regulations as promulgated for financial assistance in

Volume II would have applied to the Post Office. The fact that APA is handling two distinct programs for two distinct federal departments likewise does not authorize anyone to say that specific provisions from one programs apply across-the-board to another program. Yet, this is what counsel for the appellant is attempting to argue.

Therefore, if one tries to confuse the issue of this case by comingling two different types of assistance regulations, it is analogous to mixing oil with water. They don't mix and will separate to original groups that existed before the attempted mix. The food stamp assistance and financial assistance regulations were intended to be separate and independent of one another. When Mr. Toscano applied for financial assistance, he applied on a separate application. His approval for financial assistance was made in compliance with the regulations of Volume II of the Utah rules. Volume IV was never considered in approving Mr. Toscano's financial application. Thus, only the financial assistance regulations should govern this case.

The financial assistance regulations applicable to this case are stated as follows in Volume II, Section 410.1:

§410.1 Exempt Assets:

1. One home and lot owned or being purchased and occupied by the applicant or recipient, including a mobile home. (Emphasis added).

- a. If the home is owned or being purchased, the lot on which the home stands shall not exceed the average size of residential lots for the community in which it is located. The amount of property exceeding an average-size lot shall not be considered exempt property.
- b. When an individual owns but does not occupy a mobile home, the equity value of the mobile home shall not be considered except personal property.

It is interesting to note that the only inaccurate information supplied by Mr. Toscano on his financial aid application is the information that was most essential in determining whether Mr. Toscano was eligible for financial assistance. All other information was accurate on his application. Therefore, if Mr. Toscano would have answered correctly the question concerning his owning real property; the issue of whether or not he occupied his home in Muleshoe, Texas, during the period he received financial assistance and living in Utah, would not be before this court now.

The financial assistance regulations, *supra*, state that a lot and home to be exempt must be occupied by the applicant or recipient. In addition, it is important to point out that Volume II contains no special regulations covering migrants; hence, migrant status is irrelevant to determining eligibility for financial assistance and a migrant must qualify the same as any other applicant (R. 115). Whether Mr. Toscano was or was not a migrant is consequently

not at issue. To have his home exempted for financial assistance purposes, it must be the home he occupies.

In December, 1975, when Mr. Toscano applied for financial assistance and during the months Mr. Toscano received financial assistance, he did not occupy the home and lot in Muleshoe, Texas. (R. 22 and 23). It is pointed out that Volume II does not define the term occupied, but it is submitted that the general dictionary definition is applicable. Webster's Dictionary (1974 ed.) at 794, defines occupy as "to reside in as an owner or tenant." This is the same definition that the APA office has used in determining one's eligibility. The following statements made by Mr. Larson at trial show this to be correct:

Mr. Barclay: "Is there a definition as to what it means to be occupied in the regulation?"

Mr. Larson: "Not specifically. Occupied is generally assumed to mean that the individual is living in the home."

Mr. Barclay: "That is the application applied by your agency?"

Mr. Larson: "Yes." (R. 117).

Even though the insurance cases cited by appellant are not very applicable to the present situation, these cases still uphold the definition of occupied as a place "in actual use by human beings who are living in it as a place of habitation...", (Independent Fire Insurance Company

v. Butler, 362 So.2d 980, 982 (1978). The appellant was not living in his home in Muleshoe, Texas, when he received financial assistance payments in Utah. (Amarillo which is closer to Salt Lake City than Muleshoe is 888 miles from Salt Lake City; see also Mr. Toscano's affidavit, R. 22). It may be true that appellant visited Muleshoe, Texas, on occasion, however, this does not mean he occupied the home in Muleshoe.

Counsel for respondent himself feels the absurdity of this argument of appellant from his own personal experience. Counsel was born and raised in Freeport, Illinois, approximately 1360 miles away from Provo, Utah. After graduation from High School counsel attended Brigham Young University for four years of undergraduate study. Except for a few belongings, clothes, etc., counsel's entire belongings remained at his parents' home in Illinois for four years. Counsel lived in a residential hall for three years and in a private home off campus for the last year. At all times he maintained permanent residence in Illinois at his parents and in fact visited his permanent residence at Christmastime, summertime (going to and coming from jobs away from that home). He received mail there that entire time, had his belongings there, and even voted there by "absentee ballot."

To say that counsel for respondent "occupied" the home in Illinois at the same time he was living (even temporarily)

in Provo, Utah, is inconceivable. Was he not "occupying" his room in the residence hall? Certainly he was and the court should reject any theory to the contrary.

Appellant is obviously trying to confuse the issue. He is trying to urge this court to accept the position that a person does not "occupy" the place where he sleeps, stays or resides during the period in this case, but somehow is in two places at once and therefore qualifies for assistance.

The record is clear that the principle residence - where the appellant lived, ate, slept, stayed - during the period of December, 1975, through June, 1976, was in Utah. There is no evidence or testimony directly substantiating that appellant even went back to Texas during the time he was receiving financial assistance. However, even if appellant did return to Texas, the visits were short and infrequent because appellant's financial assistance checks were all mailed to his residence in Utah and cashed in Utah. How could he be occupying his home in Texas and living there if he was cashing his checks in Utah.

Appellant also argues that even though he was not physically living in the Muleshoe home, his children were living there. This statement made by appellant makes no difference in determining whether appellant was eligible for financial assistance because the financial assistance regulations specifically state that a home to be exempt

must be occupied by the applicant or recipient of the assistance, in this case Salvador Toscano. (Volume II, Section 410.1.) Therefore, Judge Calvin Gould did not abuse his discretion in deciding that the home in Muleshoe, Texas, was a non-exempt asset.

Since the home in Muleshoe was a non-exempt resource and had a value of \$10,580.00, this resource if reported would have made Mr. Toscano ineligible for financial assistance and the respondent would not have paid the same to appellant.

POINT II

RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO PROVE BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT APPELLANT COMMITTED FRAUD DOES NOT MEAN APPELLANT WAS WITHOUT FAULT IN SUPPLYING INCORRECT INFORMATION ON HIS FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE APPLICATION.

Appellant appears to have asserted certain positions in his brief which are not substantiated by the record. Respondent feels it important to point them out. For example, appellant states that the APA office had no staff members fluent in Spanish. This statement is incorrect and not in harmony with the unrefuted trial testimony of Mr. Larson:

Mr. Larson: "I am aware of one individual who has been an employee for a number of years back prior to '75. He does speak Spanish."

Mr. Ayala: "So basically we are sure that we have one person among 60 people that does speak Spanish, am I correct?"

Mr. Larson: "Yes, at least one. And I think at the time there was another Spanish American girl."

Mr. Ayala: "But you are sure of one anyway, am I correct?"

Mr. Larson: "Yes." (R. 124).

From the above dialogue it is evident that there was at least one person who could speak fluent Spanish at the APA office during the period when Mr. Toscano applied for financial assistance. The record also shows that the APA office personnel would ask for an interpreter to assist them if someone came in the office who was unable to speak English. (R. 112 and 113). Therefore, if Mr. Toscano's application was filled out at the APA office there would have been an interpreter available to him. (Note: It is not clear from the record whether Mr. Toscano filled out his financial application at the Migrant Council's office or at the APA's office.)

Appellant also makes the statement that the record shows him to be without faults in applying for financial assistance. Such a finding was never made by the trial judge. Judge Calvin Gould only determined that the respondent did not carry his heavy burden of proving appellant's fraud by clear and convincing evidence. (See Schwartz v. Tanner, 576 P.2d 873 (1978), for burden placed on one proving fraud). Thus, not being able to prove the

heavy burden of fraud, does not mean the appellant was without fault. The Washington Supreme Court stated the following concerning one's burden in providing fraud:

Fraud, therefore, is never presumed; to be clear, cogent and convincing, the evidence must be greater than a mere preponderance. Markov v. ABC Transfer & Storage Company, 76 Wash.2d 388, 457 P.2d 535,539 (1969).

In the present case, respondent was unable to prove more than a preponderance; still substantial evidence and testimony was presented at the trial showing that Mr. Toscano was not blameless when he supplied the inaccurate information on his financial application. Below are a few of the points showing that Mr. Toascao was not without fault:

(1) Millie Rodriguez Valencia, a member of the Migrant Council who speaks Spanish notarized appellant's financial aid application (R. 143 and 145);

(2) An interpreter whose native language is Spanish was available to assist the appellant in filling out his financial assistance application at the APA office (R. 123 and 124);

(3) On all of appellant's applications and re-applications for public assistance, Mr. Toscano answered all of the questions correctly except the question that would make him ineligible for financial assistance (R. 119 and 120); and

(4) If Mr. Toscano did not understand a question on

the financial assistance application as it was being interpreted for him then he should have made some effort to have the question clarified or at the very least he should have let the interpreter know that he didn't understand the question.

Maybe, the above are not enough to meet the heavy burden of proving fraud; however, the above points should indicate that Mr. Toscano was not without fault in supplying the incorrect information.

Appellant, in Point II of his brief also makes a policy argument that the respondent should not be allowed to collect administrative error overpayments. First of all, Utah Code Annotated, Section 55-15a-24 specifically authorizes the Department to collect administrative overpayments. Second, there is no evidence or finding by the court that this matter was in fact an administrative error. Third, with the non-reporting of ownership of a home, with the state not having knowledge of the ownership, administrative error is a false classification anyway. As such, respondent rejects this argument as totally improper.

As the United State Supreme Court said:

Conflicting claims of morality and intelligence are raised by opponents and proponents of almost every measure, certainly including the one before us. But the intractable economic, social, and even philosophical problems presented by public welfare assistance programs are not the

business of this Court....

In the same case the United States Supreme Court reiterates the same point by stating:

...the Constitution does not empower this Court to second-guess state officials charged with the difficult responsibility of allocating limited public welfare funds among the myriad of potential recipients. Dandridge v. Williams, 397 U.S. 471, 487 (1970).

Funds paid to a recipient which should not be paid because of ineligibility takes away from those who legitimately deserve aid. Appellant is requesting this Court to legislate whether the state should collect the overpaid funds as was evidenced at trial. That is not the purpose of this court.

In the case of Trade Commission v. Skaggs Drug Centers, Inc.,

21 Utah2d 431, 446 P.2d 958 (1968) this court said:

Cognizant of the contending forces, we must realize the field in which the court operates is limited. It does not lie within the province of the court to pass upon the wisdom, the need or the desirability of any legislation, nor to choose between two opposing political philosophies. It is not the function of the court to ameliorate the conditions of those in want, nor is its purpose to solve the economic, social or religious problems and dissensions which beset society. The court is not the conscience of the State or its people. It does not fall within its duty to express the personal desires or philosophy of its personnel.

The court does not determine who is large or who is small nor who is rich or who is poor. It operates upon

a state of facts to effect justice between contending parties and interests all in accordance with established legal and equitable rules and regulations.

The court must voluntarily restrain itself by holding strictly to an exercise and expression of its delegated or innate power to interpret and adjudicate. We have been called upon to state what the law is and not what we think it should be. The question as to whether the statute in question is or is not economically sound or beneficial is not for the court to decide, but such an inquiry is a matter for the legislature. (Emphasis added.)

See also Gord v. Salt Lake City, 20 Utah2d 138, 434 P.2d 449 (1967); Great Salt Lake Authority v. Island Ranching Co., 18 Utah2d 45, 414 P.2d 963, rehearing 18 Utah2d 276, 421 P.2d 504 (1966).

Therefore, respondent respectfully urges this Court to pass the issue of the feasibility or the wisdom of collecting administrative error overpayments since that was not an issue at trial.

POINT III

APPELLANT'S ARGUMENTS THAT WERE NOT RAISED IN THE PLEADINGS NOR PUT IN ISSUE AT THE TRIAL CANNOT BE CONSIDERED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

The arguments raised in appellant's third and fourth points as well as this request for relief sought regarding retroactive benefits, are being presented for the first time on appeal. These arguments were never placed in issue in any

form through pleadings, motions, or at the trial. The Utah Supreme Court has stated the following concerning matters raised for the first time on appeal; "matters neither raised in the pleadings nor put in issue at trial cannot be considered for the first time on appeal." Wagner v. Olsen, 25 Utah 2d 366, 482 P.2d 702, 704 (1971). See also, Park City Utah Corp. v. Ensign Co., 586 P.2d 450 (Utah 1978); Edgar v. Wagner, 572 P.2d 405 (Utah 1977) and others too numerous to cite.

In reiterating this position, the Utah Supreme Court stated the following in a recent welfare fraud decision: "We have consistently held that matters not raised in the trial court will not be considered by this Court on appeal." Department of Social Services v. Lester Romero a/k/a Ralph G. Romero, No. 16551, Slip op. at 2 (Utah, filed March 20, 1980).

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